IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PAUL FITZPATRICK, :

Appellant, :

vs. : Case SC00-2589

No.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

:

Appellee.

:

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DOUGLAS S. CONNOR Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER

0350141

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal consists of sixteen volumes in the record originally filed plus a two-volume "Addendum Transcript of Record on Appeal", a three-volume "Transcript of Record on Appeal" and a three-volume "Supplemental Transcript of Record on Appeal". The volumes of the original record will be designated by number only (no prefix). Volumes of the "Addendum Transcript Record on Appeal" will be designated by the prefix "ADD" and number. Volumes of the "Transcript of Record on Appeal" will be designated by the prefix "EX" and number. Volumes of the "Supplemental Transcript of Record on Appeal" will be designated by the prefix "S" and number.

The record is further divided into two sections.

References to the trial transcripts (comprising volumes IX through XVI of the original record and volumes II and III of the "Supplemental Transcript of Record on Appeal") will be designated by prefix and volume number, followed by "T" and the appropriate page number. References to the remainder of the record (comprising volumes I through VIII of the original

record, the "Addendum Transcript of Record on Appeal", the "Transcript of Record on Appeal" and volume I of the "Supplemental Transcript of Record on Appeal" will be designated by prefix and volume number, followed by "R" and the appropriate page number.

The trial judge's sentencing order is attached as an appendix to the initial brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Pinellas County grand jury returned an indictment September 17, 1996 charging Paul John Fitzpatrick, Appellant, with first degree murder in the February 8, 1980 killing of Gerald D. Hollinger (I, R1-2). State gave notice on October 8, 1998 of their intent to use collateral crime evidence at Fitzpatrick's trial (III, R501-3). This notice was superseded by an amended notice filed November 30, 1999 (IV, R643-6). Defense counsel filed a motion seeking to prevent the State's expert in footprint analysis from giving an expert opinion that there was a "strong possibility" that the foot impressions left at the crime scene were made by Fitzpatrick (IV, R621-2). Appellant also filed a pretrial "Motion for Statement of Aggravating Circumstances" (IV, R627-30).

At a hearing held August 2, 1999, the "Motion for Statement of Aggravating Circumstances" was heard (VIII, R1320-1) and later denied (VIII, R1282).

Defense counsel argued that there was an insufficient data base on foot impressions to determine what percentage of the population shared similar

characteristics (VIII, R1301). Counsel urged that the State's witness be limited to giving an opinion that Fitzpatrick could have made the foot impressions at the crime scene (VIII, R1301). The court questioned whether a <u>Frye</u> hearing might be necessary to determine how the expert could qualify his opinion (VIII, R1316, 1318-9).

This <u>Frye</u> hearing took place December 3, 1999 (ADDI, R1378-1543). The court later granted the defense motion in an order rendered January 20, 2000 (IV, R713-26). The State witness, William Bodziak, was permitted to describe the footprint comparisons to the jury, but was barred from giving an opinion that there was a "strong possibility" that Appellant had left the foot impressions at the crime scene (IV, R726).

Also considered at the December 3, 1999 hearing was whether collateral crime evidence involving the robbery of Kenneth Menard in Massachusetts would be admissible at trial (ADDI, R1543-79). The Court deferred ruling; and later rendered an order January 20, 2000 denying the defense motion in limine and allowing the State to introduce collateral crime evidence (IV, R727-30).

Trial was held before Circuit Judge Lauren C. Laughlin and a jury on February 14 - 18, 2000 (IX-XIII, T1-801). During the guilt or innocence phase of the trial, Appellant renewed his objection to allowing testimony about the collateral crime (X, T219). Prior to crossexamination of the State's key witness, Paul Brown, the court heard the State's oral motion in limine to limit the scope of crossexamination (IX, T16-8; XI, T371-80). The judge ruled that the defense could not crossexamine Brown with respect to his mental health (XI, T373), sexual molestation by his father (XI, T374), his inpatient treatment at a VA hospital for drug and alcohol addiction (XI, T376), or whether he had previously accused Kenneth Menard of raping him (XI, T380).

At the close of the State's case, Appellant moved for judgment of acquittal (XII, T553-68). Among the grounds argued was that the State failed to prove burglary as an underlying felony for first-degree felony murder because the evidence showed that the

killer was invited into Hollinger's residence¹ (XII, T561-4). The judge, in denying the motion for judgment of acquittal, remarked that although the entry was consensual, "it's a reasonable assumption that the victim withdrew whatever consent that he may have given to remain in the residence" (XII, T570-1). After the defense case, the court denied Appellant's renewed motion for judgment of acquittal (XII, T651-2).

As rebuttal evidence, the State offered several photo exhibits, numbered 40 through 44 (XII, T659-60, 673-4). Defense counsel said that he didn't object to any of them (XII, T660, 673).²

During closing argument, defense counsel argued that Appellant was guilty of neither premeditated murder nor felony murder (XII, T676-9, 768-9). Counsel conceded that Fitzpatrick was guilty of theft because he admitted to helping Paul Brown carry away

¹ Defense counsel cited several cases to support her argument but was apparently unaware of <u>Delgado v. State</u>, Case No. 88,638 (Fla. February 3, 2000) [25 Fla. L. Weekly S79] which had issued only days before trial.

² Presumably the inflammatory and prejudicial photographs referred to in defense counsel's Amended Motion for New Trial were State Exhibits #40 and #41, enlargements which graphically depicted the victim's wounds (VI, R1070; VIII, R1351, 1359-60).

Hollinger's stereo (XII, T679, 769). The prosecutor commenced by telling the jury that they could disagree about whether the State had sufficient proof for either premeditation or felony murder as long as all jurors agreed that first degree murder had been establish under one theory or the other (XIII, T707-8). In arguing that first degree felony murder was established, the prosecutor argued both robbery and burglary as the underlying felonies (XIII, T713-6). Burglary was described as remaining in Hollinger's residence to "rip off" the victim (XIII, T715-6). The prosecutor also relied substantially upon the collateral crime evidence from the Menard robbery (XIII, T720-6).

After the jury was almost two and one-half hours into their deliberations, two questions were submitted regarding whether there were fingerprints on the knife and whether Hollinger was "still alive when rolled over?" (XIII, T794-5; V, R817). In accord with counsel's request, the jury was instructed to rely upon their collective memories (XIII, T796). Three additional jury questions directed to the credibility

of Brown's testimony were also answered the same way (XIII, T796-7; V, R818).

The jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged to first degree murder (XIII, T799; V, R819).

In the subsequent penalty phase, defense counsel argued her Motion to Declare Section 921.141, Florida Statutes Unconstitutional Because Only a Bare Majority of Jurors is Sufficient to Recommend a Death Sentence (V, R870-1; XIV, T813-4). The court denied this motion as well as other defense motions attacking the constitutionality of the HAC aggravating circumstance, the pecuniary gain aggravating circumstance, and the contemporaneous felony aggravating circumstance (V, 848-51, 854-8, 872-7; XIV, T814-7). To avoid any prejudice from extraneous matters on the Massachusetts judgment, the defense and prosecution stipulated that Fitzpatrick had been convicted of robbery and the judgment itself was not entered into evidence (XIV, T826-31, 859-60, 881-2).

During penalty phase argument, the prosecutor relied upon a contemporaneous burglary as one of the aggravating circumstances based upon an implied lack of

"consent to someone remaining in your house as you are assaulted and cut and stabbed with a knife" (XV, T1107, 1111). While the prosecutor was arguing with respect to the HAC aggravating circumstance, defense counsel objected to his repeated phrases which tended to place the jury in the shoes of the victim (XV, T1115). The court acknowledged hearing some "inadvertent" comments and asked the prosecutor to "keep it in mind" (XV, T1115-6).

By a vote of 8-4, the jury recommended that a death sentence be imposed (VI, R1027; XVI, T1177).

On February 28, 2000, Appellant filed a motion for new trial (VI, R1058-9). An amended motion for new trial followed on May 31, 2000 (VI, R1067-70). This motion was heard in conjunction with the Spencer Hearing on June 9, 2000 (VIII, R1327-76).

At this hearing, Ralph Pflieger, an investigator for the Public Defender's Office, testified he tried for three years to obtain hospital records relating to Appellant's treatment for a head injury when he was 18 or 19 (VIII, R1333). The hospital is now defunct and a search of the archives was unsuccessful (VIII, R1333).

A request for medical or mental health records from the Billerica House of Corrections where Appellant was confined during the early 80s was also unproductive (VIII, R1334-5). Neither could the investigator locate several potential witnesses who could have produced evidence concerning Appellant's mental state in the early 1980s (VIII, R1341).

With respect to the motion for new trial, defense counsel brought the judge's attention to this Court's decision in Delgado v. State, which was released just prior to trial (VIII, R1345-8). He argued that the Delgado decision undercut the jury's verdict of guilt because it could have been based upon felony murder with burglary as the underlying felony (VIII, R1346-8). The prosecutor argued that there was sufficient evidence of premeditation and also sufficient evidence of felony murder based upon an underlying felony of robbery (VIII, R1361-72). According to the prosecutor, the inadequacy of the burglary theory of felony murder was harmless error (VIII, R1370-2). The judge deferred her ruling (VIII, R1375).

At a subsequent hearing held July 28, 2000, the

court denied Appellant's motion for new trial and entered a written order explaining the ruling (VII, R1184-92; ADDII, R1583). She also personally questioned Appellant about the decision to not present any further evidence in mitigation (ADDII, R1585-7). He stated that he had discussed the possibility of presenting additional psychiatric testimony with his attorneys and decided against it (ADDII, R1585-7). The court allowed the State to submit a redacted victim impact letter for consideration with respect to sentencing (ADDII, R1588-9). Both counsel agreed to submit written sentencing memoranda rather than present penalty argument in-court (ADDII, R1589-93).

On August 25, 2000, defense counsel filed her "Memorandum of Law Supporting the Finding of Mitigating Circumstances in Penalty Phase" (VII, R1195-1227). The State submitted a "Sentencing Memorandum" the same day (VII, R1228-46) and a response to Appellant's memorandum was filed August 30, 2000 (VII, R1247-50).

Paul Fitzpatrick presented an oral sworn statement to the judge at a hearing held September 6, 2000 (SI, R1767-75). He continued to profess his innocence and

asserted that Paul Brown was a "chronic liar" (SI, R1768-70, 1773-5). He also disputed the State's portrayal of him as not having a loving and caring relationship with his family (SI, R1770-3). He told the court, "I don't want to be on death row. I want to go back to Boston." (SI, R1773).

The sentencing hearing took place September 13, 2000 (ADDII, R1600-25). Judge Laughlin read her sentencing order in open court and filed it (ADDII, R1602-25). A sentence of death was imposed (ADDII, R1624; VII, R1252-6).

In her order, the judge found that three aggravating circumstances were proved by the State: 1) previous conviction of a violent felony³; 2) committed in the course of a robbery⁴; and 3) especially heinous, atrocious or cruel⁵ (VIII, R1258-60, see Appendix). In mitigation, the judge found that three statutory mitigating circumstances were established: 1) extreme

³§921.141(5)(b), Fla. Stat. (1979).

⁴§921.141(5)(d), Fla. Stat. (1979).

⁵§921.141(5)(h), Fla. Stat. (1979).

mental or emotional disturbance⁶; 2) substantially impaired capacity to conform conduct to the requirements of law⁷; and 3) age of the defendant at the time of the crime⁸ (VIII, R1261-6, see Appendix). The judge rejected the proposed mitigating circumstance of being an accomplice with minor participation⁹ (VIII, R1264-5, see Appendix). Modest weight was given to each of the mental mitigating factors and little weight to Appellant's age (VIII, R1263-4, 1266, see Appendix).

Labeled as "other factors in the defendant's background that would mitigate against the death penalty", the court considered evidence concerning: a) sexual abuse (rejected because of insufficient proof); b) alcohol abuse (weighed as part of the impaired capacity mitigating factor); c) drug use at an early age (weighed as part of the mental or emotional disturbance mitigating factor); d) rough environment (not reasonably established); e) abusive home life

⁶§921.141(6)(b), Fla. Stat. (1979).

 $^{^{7}}$ §921.141(6)(f), Fla. Stat. (1979).

⁸§921.141(6)(g), Fla. Stat. (1979).

⁹§921.141(6)(d), Fla. Stat. (1979).

(given "some weight"); and, f) brain injury (weighed as part of the mental or emotional disturbance mitigating factor) (VIII, R1266-8, see Appendix).

Under the category "Non Statutory Mitigating Circumstances", the sentencing judge rejected the proposed factors "recognized his addiction and sought treatment", "continues and maintains his reading skills in jail", "parent of one child", and "other circumstances" relating to the twenty year gap between the homicide and Appellant's trial (VIII, R1268-72, see Appendix). The court found that six "non statutory mitigating circumstances were established, but gave each of them only "slight" or "little" weight: "cared for his brother Michael, his brother Jackie", "exhibited kindness toward others", "capacity to maintain close ties with family", "capacity to form close loving relationships", "friendly, outgoing, sense of humor" and "obtained his G.E.D." (VIII, R1269-71).

The sentencing judge concluded by agreeing with the jury's majority that the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances (VIII, R1272, see Appendix). A sentence of death was imposed (VII,

R1252-6; VIII, R1273, see Appendix).

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal October 11, 2000 (VIII, R1280). The Public Defender was appointed for appellate representation (VIII, R1274). This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, section 3(b)(1) of the Florida Constitution and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(1)(A)(i) to hear Paul Fitzpatrick's appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A) State's Case - Guilt or Innocence Trial.

The body of Gerald Hollinger was discovered by a postman who became suspicious when Hollinger failed to retrieve the previous day's mail from his letter box.

Robert Hill testified that his route in February 1980 included 529 Ponce de Leon Blvd. in Belleair (IX, T31).

On February 8, he was delivering mail when he noticed that the previous day's mail had not been picked up (IX, T32). He looked through the kitchen door and saw Hollinger's body on the floor (IX, T32). The postman called the police from a neighbor's house (IX, T37).

The Belleair Police Department responded. The house was locked up so they gained entry by breaking a pane of glass in the front door (IX, T41-2). There were bloody foot impressions on several rugs in the residence (IX, T47, 58-9). Also, there were markings more consistent with shoe prints (IX, T48, 66). Stereo equipment had been removed from the residence (IX, T57, 63). A one dollar bill covered with blood was found on the floor of the hall (IX, T59).

Hollinger's body was found face down in the kitchen

(IX, T80). Blood covered 70 to 80 percent of the kitchen floor (IX, T80). The police found a butcher knife near the kick space of the kitchen cabinets (IX, T62, 80). A checkbook, wallet and credit card belonging to the victim were also on the kitchen floor (IX, T62, 80). Shoe tracks led through the kitchen door outside into the garage (IX, T81). The tracks stopped at the spot where a car might normally be parked in the garage (IX, T81).

The current Chief Medical Examiner for the Sixth Circuit, Dr. Joan Wood, testified about an autopsy which was actually performed by Dr. John Shinner on February 8, 1980¹⁰ (X, T189-93). She reviewed photographs, the written autopsy report and all the information available about the injuries (X, T193-4). She counted 41 knife wounds on the body (X, T194). There was a wound to the right eye which would have blinded the victim (X, T196). Another wound on the side of the neck severed the jugular vein and would have caused rapid bleeding (X, T198). It was the only

 $^{^{10}}$ Dr. Shinner had died many years before this trial (X, T191).

wound that would have been certain to cause death (X, T212).

Defensive wounds were found on the left hand, right leg and left thigh (X, T199-201). The positioning of the victim's arms, his socks and the pools of blood indicated that the victim was rolled over after the attack (X, T202). Hollinger's wallet was lying on top of the blood (X, T202).

Dr. Wood noted that there was dripping blood on the counter, the stove and the refrigerator (X, T204). The struggle extended throughout the entire kitchen (X, T205). The victim was 6'4" tall, 230 pounds and in good physical condition (X, T211). He had a blood alcohol level of .06 grams percent, below that specified in the DUI statute (X, T212-3). A test of the victim's eye fluid suggested that the time of death was the morning of February 7 (X, T205-7).

Dr. Wood could not rule out the possibility that
Hollinger was holding a knife in his right hand during
the struggle and that the blood came from another
person as well as himself (X, T210). She said that she
had taken profiling courses from the FBI and consulted

with FDLE, which led her to suspect that the victim was homosexual when she viewed the crime scene (X, T213-4). The number of stab wounds involved and the surrounding circumstances were typical for homosexual homocides (X, T213-4).

Hollinger's 1979 Cadillac El Dorado was located beside the Courtney Campbell Causeway where it was abandoned on the way to Tampa (IX, T109-10, 115). At Hollinger's residence, a receipt from the Floridan Hotel in Tampa was found on the coffee table in the living room (IX, T69-70). The receipt was made out to John Murphy, room 1706, and covered the period February 2-8 (IX, T71). Numerous fingerprints were lifted from the crime scene, Hollinger's automobile and room 1706 of the Floridan Hotel (IX, T77, 85, 98, 100-01, 115-6, 135-7).

At that point, the police investigation stalled. It was not until 1994 that Detective Sergeant Michael Ring of the Pinellas County Sheriff's Office reopened the case (X, T251). He examined the social security number listed on the Floridan Hotel registration and determined that the prefix given was that for Massachu-

setts (X, T252-5). He decided to submit the fingerprints collected in the case to the Massachusetts authorities for possible identification (X, T256). A match was reported for fingerprints found in the hotel room with a person named Paul Brown in Medford Massachusetts (X, T256-7, 288).

In June 1995, Detective Ring went to Massachusetts for the purpose of interviewing Paul Brown and Appellant, who was known to have associated with him (X, T256-7). He was able to obtain a search warrant for fingerprints, footprints and hairs of both Brown and Fitzpatrick (X, T257). These were collected from both individuals (X, T258, 260-3, 266-7).

When the detective interviewed Appellant on June 25, 1995, he said that he had been to Florida but was never in the Tampa Bay area (X, T267, 272-4, 277-9). He denied having traveled to Florida with Paul Brown (X, T274). Detective Ring then confronted Fitzpatrick with a fingerprint report showing that his fingerprints were located in the hotel room, the victim's car and inside the victim's residence (X, T274-5). According to the detective, Appellant began "to sweat profusely"

(X, 276). Fitzpatrick was then released after providing samples of his fingerprints, footprints and hairs (X, T276-7).

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