## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PAUL FITZPATRICK,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC00-2589

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607
Phone: (813) 801-0600
Fax: (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Additionally, appellee would submit that it would be grossly unfair to presume that the absence of evidence qualifies as mitigation, especially since the defendant waived the no significant history of criminal activity mitigator, thereby precluding the state from offering evidence to refute it (R. 8, 1272).

Appellee initially points out that appellant waived consideration of the statutory mitigating factor of no significant history of prior criminal activity, F.S. 921.141(6)(a) (R. 14, 836-837); R. 5, 869-70). The effect of such a waiver precluded the state from showing a significant history of prior criminal activity. See Maggard v. State, 399 So. 2d 973 (Fla. 1981); Pangburn v. State, 661 So. 2d 1182 (Fla. 1995). If appellant had chosen to assert the no significant history mitigator, the state could have rebutted it by showing, for example, drug activity, Slawson v. State, 619 So. 2d 255, 260 (Fla. 1993).

Secondly, the delay of sixteen years between commission of

the murder and indictment must be attributed to the appellant who fled the state of Florida after the crime and attempted to remain at large in Massachusetts but for a brief stay in prison for the Menard crime. Furthermore, the alleged unsuccessful efforts to locate potential witnesses George Flint and Reggie Reagan who might have information about statements Fitzpatrick made in prison (apparently to impeach Paul Brown) as explained at the <u>Spencer</u> hearing do not relate to penalty phase mitigation (R. 8, 1336-37).

Appellant also speculated that Bobby Langlois, a neighbor of Fitzpatrick - about whom there were Massachusetts records he was deceased - might have sexually abused appellant as a child and further speculated apparently that if not deceased the witness might admit it. There was no documentation, no court hearings or civil commitments or anything related to alleged sexual abuse by Langlois towards Fitzpatrick (R. 8, 1338-39). That defense counsel could not locate "friends and associates" of appellant prior to the 1980 homicide for information about his drug use (which the state could have used under <u>Slawson</u>, supra) or his "general state of mind" prior to the offense does not mean the state has failed to afford due process, but rather such speculative ventures are a consequence of appellant's choosing to remain at large while the crime remained unsolved.

Appellant acknowledges that he had been unable to find case

law supporting the view that the delay in prosecution is unduly prejudicial in the penalty phase but cites Scott v. State, 581 So. 2d 887 (Fla. 1991). In that case, this Court found, relying on <u>United States v. Townley</u>, 665 F.2d 579 (5th Cir. 1982), 4 that Scott had shown actual prejudice resulted from a seven year, seven month delay in a circumstantial evidence case where the passage of time had damaged his alibi defense and his alibi defense originally had checked out and the prosecutor declined to prosecute because of the alibi. This Court subsequently distinguished Scott in Rivera v. State, 717 So. 2d 477, 483-484 (Fla. 1991), a case where the defendant could not show actual prejudice (the defendant never had an alibi for the critical thirty minutes in question). Here, appellant only suggests possible or speculative prejudice. The record reflects that the defense was able to offer evidence and argument pertaining to Fitzpatrick's background both through lay and expert testimony. Appellant's claim is meritless and must be rejected.

(E) <u>Harmless Error</u> - Finally, even if this Court were to

Subsequently, the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals overturned Townley in United States v. Crouch, 84 F.3d 1497,1514 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1996)(en banc) and held that for pre-indictment delay to violate the due process clause it must not only cause the accused substantial, actual prejudice, but the delay must also have been intentionally undertaken by the government for the purpose of gaining some technical advantage over the accused in the contemplated prosecution or for some other impermissible, bad faith purpose. Obviously, appellant cannot satisfy this standard as Detective Ring explained how he was able to discover and locate Mr. Fitzpatrick years after the homicide.

conclude that any or all of these non-statutory mitigating factors should have been found, any such error would be harmless Thomas v. State, 693 So. 2d 951 (Fla. 1997)(evidence error. that defendant was a good worker who did not cause trouble, a delightful young man who is very loving and that a witness "had seen a lot of good in him" constituted harmless error because relatively minor in comparison to the aggravation) Wickham v. State, 593 So. 2d 191, 194 (1991)(finding harmless the trial court's failure to find as mitigating abusive childhood, alcoholism, extensive history of hospitalization for mental disorders including schizophrenia); Lawrence v. State, 691 So. 2d 1068, 1076 (Fla. 1997)(if trial court failed to consider history of substance abuse mitigator, the error would be harmless since it would not offset the three aggravators properly found); <u>Morton v. State</u>, 789 So. 2d 324 (Fla. 2001)(failure to find or mention anti-social personality was harmless in light of the substantial aggravation presented in the case); <u>Wuornos v. State</u>, 644 So. 2d 1000, 1011 (Fla. 1994)(holding trial court's failure to find and defendant's alcoholism, difficult childhood and some degree of non-statutory impaired capacity and mental disturbance to be harmless error given the aggravating circumstances in the record); <u>Singleton v. State</u>, 783 So. 2d 970, 977 (Fla. 1002)(holding trial court's error in failing to address nonstatutory mitigation was harmless because the mitigators would not outweigh the aggravators in the case).

In the instant case, the trial court found and considered other appropriate mitigating factors; the three aggravators were substantial including the very serious HAC factor and appellant's prior conviction of a violent felony offense. The instant homicide was committed in an effort to deprive the victim of his property. Any error subjudice was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Proportionality - Finally, the sentence of death is proportionate here where the lower court properly found three valid, strong, unchallenged aggravators: (1) prior violent felony conviction (appellant stipulated to the Massachusetts armed robbery conviction); (2) capital felony was committed during the commission of a robbery; (3) capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel (documented forty-one knife wounds not including the head wounds)(R. 8, 1258-60).5

This Court recently stated in Robinson v. State, 761 So. 2d 269, 277-278 (Fla. 1999):

Upon review, we find that death is the appropriate penalty in this case. In reaching this conclusion, we are mindful that this Court must consider the particular circumstances of the instant case in

The Court also found the two statutory mental mitigators, although there was conflicting expert testimony thereon (R. 8, 1261-64), age of twenty-two (R. 1265-66), and some minor non-statutory mitigation (R. 1266-71).

comparison with other capital cases and then decide if death is the appropriate penalty. See Sliney v. State, 699 So. 2d 662, 672 (Fla. 1997(citing Terry v. State, 688 So. 2d 954, 965 (Fla. 1996), cert. denied, 118 S.Ct. 1079 (1998)); Livingston v. State, 565 So. 2d 1288, 1292 (Fla. 1988). Proportionality review is not simply a comparison between the number of aggravating and mitigating circumstances. *Terry*, 668 So. 2d at 965. Following these established principles, it appears the death sentence imposed here is not a disproportionate penalty compared to other cases.9 (footnote omitted) See Foster v. State, 691 So. 2d 1062 (Fla. 1996); Foster v. State, 654 So. 2d 112 (Fla. 1995).

(Id. at 277-278)

Moreover, proportionality review function is "not to reweigh the mitigating factors against the aggravating factors; that is the function of the trial judge." <u>Holland v. State</u>, 773 So. 2d 1065, 1078 (Fla. 2000); <u>Bates v. State</u>, 750 So. 2d 6 (Fla. 1999); <u>Kearse v. State</u>, 770 So. 2d 1119, 1134 (Fla. 2000).

This Court has acknowledged the very weighty position the HAC aggravator occupies in the capital sentencing jurisprudence. See <a href="Maxwell v. State">Maxwell v. State</a>, 603 So. 2d 470, 493 (Fla. 1992); <a href="Larkins v. State">Larkins</a> <a href="V. State">v. State</a>, 739 So. 2d 90, 95 (Fla. 1999); <a href="Card v. State">Card v. State</a>, \_ So. 2d \_ , 26 Fla. L. Weekly S670, 672 (Fla. 2001).

The instant case is proportional in comparison to similar cases. See, e.g. <u>Singleton v. State</u>, 783 So. 2d 970 (Fla. 2001)(victim stabbed seven times and two aggravators including prior violent felony conviction and HAC); <u>Rogers v. State</u>, 783 So. 2d 980 (Fla. 2001)(stabbing death, two aggravating

circumstances of pecuniary gain and HAC outweighed impaired capacity to appreciate criminality of his conduct or to conform to the requirements of law and non-statutory mitigation); Spencer v. State, 691 So. 2d 1062 (Fla. 1996) (two aggravators of HAC and prior violent felony aggravator outweighed two statutory mental mitigators); Robinson v. State, 761 So. 2d 269 (Fla. 1999) (death proportionate where three aggravating factors of avoid arrest, pecuniary gain and CCP present despite the presence of the two statutory mental health mitigators).

## **ISSUE V**

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DECLARE THE FLORIDA DEATH PENALTY STATUTE UNCONSTITUTIONAL BECAUSE IT PERMITS A SIMPLE MAJORITY RECOMMENDATION BY THE JURY.

Appellant filed a motion to declare the death penalty statute unconstitutional because only a bare majority of jurors is sufficient to recommend a death sentence (R5, 870-71). The lower court denied the motion (R8, 1283). This Court has consistently and with regularity rejected this argument. See, e.g. James v. State, 453 So. 2d 786, 792 (Fla. 1984), Brown v.State, 565 So. 2d 304 (Fla. 1990), P. Taylor v. State, 638 So. 2d 30, 33, n.4 (Fla. 1994), Thompson v. State, 648 So. 2d 692, 698 (Fla. 1994), Whitfield v. State, 706 So. 2d 1, 6 (Fla. 1997), Cave v. State, 727 So. 2d 227, 232 n.6 (Fla. 1998), Card v. State, \_So. 2d\_, 27 Fla. Law Weekly S25, 29 and n.13 (Fla. 2001).

Appellant provides no compelling, persuasive reason for this Court to abandon its well-established jurisprudence and destroy the principle of stare decisis in order to revisit this properly-rejected argument. Accordingly, the Court should decline to do so and reaffirm that a simple majority vote is sufficient for a jury's recommendation of death. Even if this Court were now to accept such a contention and condemn a bare majority recommendation, it would avail appellant naught as the

instant jury recommendation was by a <u>decisive</u> eight to four vote. This claim is meritless.

#### ISSUE VI

WHETHER THE DEATH SENTENCE WAS IMPOSED IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS BECAUSE THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES WERE NOT CHARGED BY INDICTMENT AND ALLEGEDLY NOT DETERMINED BY HIS JURY.

Appellant acknowledges that he did not rely on Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 US 466 (2000) in the lower court and explains that Apprendi was not decided until June 26, 2000, while his trial took place February 14-22, 2000. This chronology, however, does not excuse his procedural default in failing to properly raise the claim below. Even prior to his trial, appellant could have urged reliance on the earlier case of Jones v. State, 526 US 227 (1999). The Apprendi Court noted that its decision "was foreshadowed by our opinion in Jones v. United States, 530 US at 476. The Court added:

We there noted that "under the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment and the notice and jury trial guarantees of the Sixth Amendment, any fact (other than prior conviction) that increases the maximum penalty for a crime must be charged in an indictment submitted to a jury, and proven beyond a reasonable doubt." Id at 243, n. 6, 119 S.Ct. 1215.

(530 US at 476)

Since the tools were available to construct the argument and appellant failed to do so, he is procedurally barred from

raising this claim initially on appeal. See <u>Engle v. Isaac</u>, 456 US 107, 134 (1982)("where the basis of a constitutional claim is available and other defense counsel have perceived and litigated that claim, the demands of comity and finality counsel against labeling alleged unawareness of the objection as cause for a procedural default").

Appellant contends that he presented his "Apprendi" claim adequately below by his Motion to Declare Section 921.141, Florida Statutes Unconstitutional (R4, 625-626) and his Motion for Statement of Aggravating Circumstances (R4, 627-30). The latter motion was denied (R8, 1282), as was the former motion (R8, 1294, 1296).

Appellee disagrees. In the first motion urging the statute, or at least 921.41(5)(d), unconstitutional Fitzpatrick argued that the failure to apprise him of whether the state was proceeding on a theory of premeditated design or felony murder constituted a denial of equal protection of laws and did not narrow the class of death-eligible murderers under the Eighth Amendment (R4, 625-626).

In the latter Motion for Statement of Aggravating Circumstances, appellant complained that he was not given notice of what aggravators the state intended to use, that such lack of notice undermined his right to effective assistance of counsel and due process of law (R4, 627-630). The defense also orally

### declared:

"...we are asking for a special jury verdict form that allows the jury to set forth what factors they are considering in recommendation of life as opposed to death" (emphasis supplied) (R8, 1320)

Appellant did not present below his current contention that the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial required that aggravators be charged in the indictment and found by the jury. Since this claim was not presented below, appellant may not initiate the claim for review here. See generally Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982); Occhicone v. State, 570 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 1990); Woods v. State, 733 So. 2d 980, 984 (Fla. 1999); Archer v. State, 613 So. 2d 446, 448 (Fla. 1993); Bradley v. State, 787 So. 2d 732 (Fla. 2001) (defendant barred from challenging burglary conviction on direct appeal for failure to preserve in the lower court.)

This Court has consistently and regularly ruled - in a similar context - that a defendant has not adequately preserved for appellate review a claim that a jury instruction is constitutionally inadequate simply by objecting to the lack of evidentiary support for an aggravator. See Occhicone v. State, 618 So. 2d 730 (Fla. 1993); Lightbourne v. State, 644 So. 2d 54 (Fla. 1994); Johnson v. Singletary, 612 So. 2d 575 (Fla. 1993); Pope v. State, 702 So. 2d 221 (Fla. 1997).

Appellee respectfully requests this Court to continue to

enforce its procedural default policy to preclude consideration on appeal of claims that were not adequately preserved by appropriate and timely objection in the trial court. Failure to include a plain statement that the Court's decision rests on a procedural bar (which constitutes an adequate and independent state ground for denial of relief) can result in the federal courts addressing the merits of the claim and disagreeing with this Court's conclusion as to the merits of the claim. See Harris v. Reed, 489 US 255 (1989); Coleman v. Thompson, 501 US 722 (1991); See also Ylst v. Nunnamaker, 501 US 797 (1991)(where the last explained state court judgment unequivocally rested on a state procedural default, that default will be handled despite subsequent unexplained rulings).

Appellee, secondarily and in the alternative, also argues that apart from the procedural default precluding review the instant claim is meritless. Mills v. Moore, 786 So. 2d 532 (Fla. 2001), cert. denied. \_US\_, 149 L.Ed 2d 673 (2001); King v. State/Moore, \_So. 2d\_, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S65 (Fla. 2002); Bottoson v. State/Moore, \_So. 2d\_, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S119 (Fla. 2002).6

Appellee has no objection to this Court <u>also</u> deciding as an alternative basis for its decision that the <u>Apprendi</u> claim is meritless pursuant to these recent precedents; but nevertheless would still urge the Court to announce its reliance on, and enforcement of its procedural default jurisprudence and a clear statement that relief must be denied for appellant's failure to preserve the claim by timely and appropriate objection in the

Finally, appellant cannot obtain any relief under Apprendi, supra, because the Fitzpatrick jury in the penalty phase was instructed on the necessity of finding an aggravating circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt (R16, 1173) and appellant stipulated both below to the trial court and to the jury (R14, 859-60, 881-882; R15, 1146) and in this Court (Amended Brief, P. 78) that he had a prior violent felony conviction for the robbery of Menard.

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